










[image: image]










ALSO BY CHLOE HOOPER


A Child’s Book of True Crime















[image: image]


SCRIBNER


 A Division of Simon & Schuster, Inc.


 1230 Avenue of the Americas


 New York, NY 10020


Copyright © 2009 by Chloe Hooper


All rights reserved, including the right to reproduce this book or portions thereof in any form whatsoever. For information, address Scribner Subsidiary Rights Department, 1230 Avenue of the Americas, New York, NY 10020.


SCRIBNER and design are registered trademarks of The Gale Group, Inc., used under license by Simon & Schuster, Inc., the publisher of this work.


Library of Congress Control Number: 2008038308


ISBN-13: 978-1-4165-9459-8


ISBN-10: 1-4165-9459-0


Photograph and map credits appear on Acknowledgement.


Visit us on the World Wide Web: 


http://www.SimonSays.com









For Justin and Nicholas














[image: image]















Contents




ONE






The Island






The Death






The Investigation






The Family






The Riot






Belief






The Inquest






TWO






Doomadgee






Burketown






THREE






The Inquest Resumes






The Funeral






The Submissions






The Findings






The Rally








FOUR






The Trial






The Accused






Amazing Grace






The Verdict






Postscript






Acknowledgments












TALL MAN














 






ON AUSTRALIA’S REMOTE Cape York Peninsula there are spirits with long, thin arms and long, thin legs that move unseen in the night to do evil. By day they slide back into the country’s sandstone cliffs, living in the cracks. On rock faces, in gullies and gorges and caves, their stretched-out bodies are painted in red ocher with all-seeing white eyes.


To find them I flew and drove to the tiny town of Laura, in Far North Queensland, and followed a guide along narrow walking tracks thousands of years old, up a steep escarpment. At the top, the guide yelled out a greeting to the spirits. Otherwise, he said, they would come and cut out our kidney fat.


It had been years since anyone had visited this place. Recent rains had left the saplings vivid green, and the ferns that grew from rocks made hanging gardens. This was a wet-season camp, a network of boulders and caves whose walls and ceilings were covered in layers of paintings maybe fifteen thousand years old: kangaroos, crocodiles, emus, dingoes, yams and their twisting roots, weapons, beehives with swarms of bees, stars; all the things of the cosmos drawn so they might multiply and release the bounty of the land.


Along one cliff wall, the orange and brown hues of the sandstone morphed into more recent figures: paintings of two white men lying down. They wore red half-moon caps and blue shirts, and were naked below their waists, their skin a pale, creamy ocher. Both men had rifles. They were police. This site was used for sorcery, purri purri.




On a cave wall a kilometer or so away, the guide had shown me a scene painted in the late nineteenth century of a European wearing jodhpurs and boots. He was midair, vainly holding to the reins as he was thrown from his horse. A rifle flew from his hands. A naked woman lay on the ground. Perhaps the man had stolen her; it was common on the frontier. Whoever painted this wanted to kill the European, to “doom” him, as the self-taught ethnographer W. E. Roth termed it a century ago. A man could be doomed to be struck by lightning or crushed by a falling tree, though it would not be the lightning or the tree that killed him, but the curse. The Aborigines called it “singing” him.


Sorcery paintings became more prolific while northern Australia was being colonized. In 1872—nearly a hundred years after Captain Cook claimed the continent for Great Britain—gold was discovered in a valley near Laura. When local Aborigines speared the Europeans’ stock or pilfered their supplies, white settlers and then troopers—white and black—set out from the town in “dispersal” parties. The Aborigines tried to use purri purri against the whites’ rifles, magic objects that could produce thunder and lightning. They tried to sing the guns and to sing the gun’s “fruit” or “kernels”—the bullets—so they wouldn’t fire straight. But the place-names marking Cape York’s red-dirt roads tell the story: Spear Creek, Rifle Creek, Double Barrel Creek, Revolver Creek. A photograph of the Laura Native Mounted Police from around 1880 shows five Aboriginal troopers in their uniforms with peaked caps and rifles, flanking their tall white commander. Some traditional Aborigines lived like fugitives in these hills until the 1920s, but influenza and the troopers kept coming their way.


I stared at the blue-shirted men on the cave wall and thought that the motivation to paint them must have been strong. Blue pigment is very rare: someone had gone to great trouble to find and mix these paints. The smaller of the figures had two blue dots for eyes, the larger one brown-dot eyes and a cross that counted for a nose and mouth.




The second man was two meters tall and horizontal. Under his shirt he was reptilian. His pale skin had been crosshatched like a crocodile’s—every part of it, including his penis. Below him a great serpent, painted in red ocher, reached four meters along the cliff face. The snake’s tongue was striking the sole of the man’s bare foot. This snake was the instrument of doom. Inside its body were stenciled handprints, like signatories to an execution. “I curse your foot, I curse your leg, I curse your heart, your shoulder, your neck,” the guide said quietly. This was not a generic trooper. The people who painted him knew him. They knew his height. They knew the color of his eyes.


On the slow walk back down, nothing stirred in the bush. I asked the guide if he knew Chris Hurley, a white policeman who had once worked in the near deserted town of Laura down below. Hurley was popular in the Aboriginal communities and frontier towns where he chose to serve. He’d been decorated for his bravery. And he was tall, I said, two meters tall like the figure on the cave wall.


For two years I had been following his story: one morning, two hundred miles away on Palm Island, he’d arrested an Aboriginal man for swearing at him. Forty minutes later, the man, Cameron Doomadgee, was dead on a cell floor with injuries usually seen in fatal car accidents. Hurley claimed his prisoner had tripped on a step.


The guide did not know him. Policemen don’t last long in these places. So many passed through, he said, that it was hard to remember one from another. But he knew the case. Everyone in Queensland knew the case. In a few months’ time, Senior Sergeant Christopher James Hurley was standing trial for manslaughter.
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The Island






PALM ISLAND’S GRIMY air terminal was decorated with a collection of the local fourth-graders’ projects on safe and unsafe behavior. One, a rough drawing of a bottle with a cross through it, read: “Stop Drinking!” Another, “I feel safe when I’m not being hunted.” The island lies between the Great Barrier Reef and the coast of tropical Queensland in the far northeast of Australia. Queensland, a boom state, is rich with minerals, cattle, tourists, and retirees—part Texas, part Florida, and twice as big as the two of them rolled together. The reef, with its luxury island resorts, is (as the state’s advertising slogan goes) “beautiful one day, perfect the next.” But no tourists come here to Palm Island. The Aboriginal mayor collected me and the two lawyers I’d traveled with and drove us into town along the narrow road fringing the water. Rocks jutted from the shore. On a boulder someone had spray-painted in purple TALL MAN.


In the township there was a jetty, a beer canteen, a hospital, a long-broken wooden clock tower, and one store. Outside the store a child sat in a rubbish bin while another cooled him with a fire hose. In the circle of shade under a tree, more children played a gambling game: some form of two-up, with bottle lids or seed pods landing in the dirt.


Two men who looked to be in their early thirties were stumbling around, leaning on each other.


“They’re brothers,” the mayor said. “They’re blind.”


“Obviously.” I assumed she meant blind drunk. One of the brothers then shook out a white cane and I saw that the men were connected with a piece of string, the man with the cane leading his brother by the wrist. “How did they go blind?”


“Nobody knows.”


Two white women—teachers, or nurses, or police—were walking briskly through the heat in shorts and T-shirts. They looked as awkward and out of place as I felt. “Who are they?” I asked the mayor.


“Strangers,” she answered.


One of the women smiled at me, curious perhaps, and briefly I was unsure whether to reciprocate. I felt incandescently white.


Traveling to Palm Island had been like a sequence in a dream: the pale green sea so luminous and the plane flying so close I could almost see the life in it—dugongs, giant turtles, whales. All around were moored small pristine islands. Then, on the horizon, like a dark green wave, came a larger island. As the plane turned to land, the wilderness unfolded. Mountains of forest met the palm-lined shore, which met mangrove swamps, the coral reef. Then the dream shifted.


Tropic of Despair, Bitter Paradise, Island of Sorrow were the headlines I’d been reading in Queensland’s newspapers. Three months earlier, on November 19, 2004, Cameron Doomadgee had been arrested by Senior Sergeant Chris Hurley for swearing. Forty minutes later, Doomadgee was dead with a black eye, broken ribs, and a ruptured liver. Hurley said he had tripped on a step while entering the police station, and the state-appointed pathologist reported no signs of brutality. The community did not agree: a week later, a mob burned down the island’s police station and the senior sergeant’s house. Chris Hurley went into hiding on the mainland.


 


A FEW WEEKS before coming to Palm Island, I’d happened to meet Andrew Boe, a Burmese-born Brisbane criminal lawyer who was visiting friends in Melbourne, where I live. An elegant, monk-bald figure with glasses, and a tattoo on his biceps in Burmese that meant “freedom from fear,” he was best known for defending Australia’s notorious serial backpacker killer, Ivan Milat. Boe had read of Cameron Doomadgee’s case in late November and had flown to the island in December, volunteering to represent the community pro bono at the state coroner’s inquest into Doomadgee’s death: an open hearing that would seek to establish how he had died. Boe had attended his funeral. Many hundreds of mourners, on a scorching day during the buildup to the rains, silently followed the coffin through the streets for kilometers, all the way to the graveyard.


Boe wanted someone to write about the case. The inquest would take a week or two, he said. I agreed to come along. I had spent most of my twenties living overseas, and I knew very little about Indigenous Australia. Like most middle-class suburbanites, I grew up without ever seeing an Aborigine, except on the news. The Reconciliation Movement—our country’s fitful attempt to bridge relations between the first Australians and all who followed—is a cause pursued by thousands who do not actually know any of the 2 percent of the population who are Aboriginal. “I suspect you are yet to understand how complex and ‘hopeless’ the state of the indigenous situation is,” Boe had written to me after our meeting. And it was true that until I had met him, I had never heard of Palm Island. Not that I told him so—he did a hard line in moral earnestness. Among his reams of suggested reading—scholarly articles on traditional Aboriginal swearing rituals, case law, government reports, the five volumes produced by the 1991 Royal Commission into Aboriginal Deaths in Custody—he’d included a list of what would be inappropriate to wear. “Be mindful of exposing underwear unduly. Don’t try to be feral.”


“Do you ever rest?” I wrote back to him.


“Rest…?” came the hand slap. “We have to use our freedoms and privileges to see what respite we can give to those less equipped to deal with their challenges.”


It was now early February. In two days’ time, the state coroner—the government-appointed investigator of deaths—would arrive on Palm Island for a pre-inquest hearing to resolve where the inquest would take place in three weeks’ time. Boe and his junior partner, Paula Morreau, a bright-eyed, dedicated young lawyer, had arrived to prepare their case. Boe had brought with him files of witness statements and the surveillance tape from Doomadgee’s cell on the morning he died.


 


PALM ISLAND IS a place where history is so close to the surface, so omnipresent, it seems to run parallel to daily life. According to the original inhabitants, the Manburra people, Palm and its adjacent islands—Orpheus, Fantome, Eclipse—were formed in the Dreaming, the time of all creation, when an ancestral spirit, the Big Snake or Rainbow Serpent, broke up and left behind fragments of its body. When on June 7, 1770, Captain James Cook anchored the Endeavour among these tropical islands—shards of the Snake’s backbone—he saw “several large Smokes upon the Main, some people, Canoes, and we thought Cocoa Nut Trees upon one of the Islands.” He sent some men ashore but “they returned on board having met with nothing worth observing.”


A century later, the sea lanes along the east coast of Australia were well traveled and the islanders were accustomed to pearlers and fishermen, their seas being rich with bêche-de-mer, the sea cucumbers the Chinese believed were aphrodisiacs. North Queensland by the end of the nineteenth century was a multiracial community of Chinese, Japanese, Filipinos, and Pacific Islanders, in addition to Aborigines and Europeans. Southern states called it Queensmongre-land. The historian of the Australian frontier Henry Reynolds argues that the Federation of Australia in 1901 was the equivalent of the American Civil War, but in reverse: the South conquered this steamy, racially diverse, “occult” North with its vision of White Australia. Asian immigration was restricted and thousands of Pacific Islanders were deported. “Unity of race is an absolute essential to the unity of Australia,” said the founding father Alfred Deakin.


Deakin and his ilk were less perturbed by the fact a diverse group of more than 350 Aboriginal tribes had been living on the continent for at least fifty thousand years, from the time land bridges existed between Cape York and New Guinea. By Federation, it was believed, they were doomed, and even in the 1940s Europeans wrote of their duty to “smooth the pillow of a dying race”; it was the general view that within decades the Aborigines would either die out or be bred out.


In 1897, Queensland had introduced the Aboriginal Protection Act making all “full-blood” Aborigines and female and underage “half-castes” wards of the state. “They are and will always remain children, and therefore must be protected, even sometimes against their will,” wrote the ethnographer W. E. Roth, now officially deemed “northern protector of Aboriginals.” Every district in Queensland was assigned a protector, most often a local policeman, not always an upstanding one: “Sgt on verge of DTs, eyes propped out, face lean but purple dewed with constant sweat,” wrote one observer. The protectors had responsibility for forcing people from their traditional lands onto reserves, which were predominantly run by Christian missionaries. Before long, the need for another, separate reserve was identified: a place for those who protested their treatment.


In 1916 Palm Island’s potential struck the Queensland government. An official found it “the ideal place for a delightful holiday,” and the remoteness also made it “suitable for use as a penitentiary” to confine “the individuals we desire to punish.” From 1918 until the late 1960s, hundreds of Queensland Aborigines were sent to the Palm Island Mission, which served as a regular reserve as well as an open-air jail. Although the state Parliament had been advised that “the grouping of many tribes in one area would mean continual warfare amongst themselves and practically survival of the fittest,” members of more than forty different tribes were nonetheless sent to Palm Island, in a grouping together of people with incompatible territorial, language, and kinship ties. Adults often arrived in handcuffs or leg irons, deemed variously “troublesome characters,” “larrikins,” “wanderers,” or “communists.” Some were sent there for practicing traditional ceremonies or asking about wages. Children were sent alone or in groups and were placed in the island’s dormitories.


In the mission’s isolation it became increasingly authoritarian—a kind of tropical gulag. The island’s white superintendent, who “got the law in his own mouth,” issued permits to fish and permits to swim. To discourage traditional ceremonies, there was European dancing, and those who did not participate were questioned by police. A brass band learned to play jazz and marching tunes, and failure to attend band practice could result in a jail sentence. To leave the island, to marry, or to draw wages from a bank account, the Aboriginal inhabitants had to seek permission from the protector. Permission, as this letter to a new bride attests, was not to be assumed:




Dear Lucy,


Your letter gave me quite a shock, fancy you wanting to draw four pounds to buy a brooch, ring, bangle, work basket, tea set, etc., etc. I am quite sure Mrs. Henry would expend the money carefully for you, but I must tell you that no Aborigine can draw 4/5 of their wages unless they are sick and in hospital and require the money to buy comforts…However, as it is Christmas I will let you have 1/5/-out of your banking account to buy lollies with.





In the end, countless people never saw their savings. Aboriginal wages were appropriated by government departments or taken by protectors who forged the X of most workers’ signatures.


By 1967, the year Aborigines and Torres Strait Islanders were granted equal rights, Palm Island was still a completely segregated community. In 1970 a commentator described the white administration as “monarchical” and the island itself as “the most extraordinary of all Aboriginal settlements…completely unlike life in ordinary Queensland.” An Aboriginal Council was given some autonomy in the mid-1970s, but just as a new beer canteen was opened with alcohol abuse an instant scourge. Palm Islanders have come to call themselves the Bwgcolman, after the traditional name for the island. Today, with a population around 2,500, it is home to one of the largest Aboriginal communities in Australia.




To get to Palm you take a two-hour ferry trip or a fifteen-minute flight from Townsville (population 150,000), the largest town in North Queensland. Seven hundred miles north of Brisbane, the state capital, Townsville is an army center with four military bases. It’s a hot and dry and tough town. Like many places in the North it still retains a feeling of being the über-Australia that should have been. Big-city lawyers and southern liberals are given short shrift. At its airport the lawyers and I were picked up by a taxi driver in shorts and a starched short-sleeved shirt. His face was a rash of cancers. As he drove us to the terminal, where we could fly out to a thousand-dollar-a-night resort or to Palm, he began complaining about people arriving from down south. He could always pick them.


“How?” I asked.


“Because they’re fuckwits,” he answered.


 


ERYKAH KYLE HAD been Palm Island’s mayor for a year. She was in her early sixties, with light brown skin, glasses, and graying curls under a hat crocheted in the red, yellow, and black of the Aboriginal flag. Erykah’s maternal grandfather was white, and mixed relationships were illegal. That’s why her grandmother and her mother, a half-caste, were ordered by police to Palm Island. Her mother was placed in the dormitory; her grandmother was sent out to work on one of North Queensland’s vast cattle farms, where her family presume she died. Erykah’s father’s family, who came from the Burdekin River, inland from Townsville, was also sent to Palm Island, in 1918, probably so their homeland could be cleared for farming.


Erykah took us for a quick tour of the island. In the tropics, buildings seem to ripen—then sag and wilt and rot. People spilled out of houses into yards, onto the street. We stopped at a beach hemmed by the island’s densely forested hills—ancient volcanoes. Two chestnut horses were foraging nearby, wild ones left over from the mission stockyards. They roamed the hills and township, grazing on nature strips and gardens.


Boe, Paula, and I were to stay in an accommodation known as “the motel.” Surrounded by a high Cyclone-wire fence, it was a series of spotless rooms with no apparent overseer. My room had barred windows, a steel-frame bed, a ceiling fan, and a nail on the wall with a coat hanger.


Boe wanted to explain the legal process to Cameron Doomadgee’s family. At his suggestion I went with Erykah to pick up the Doomadgee sisters for a meeting.


Erykah had known Cameron since he was a young boy. As a man, she said, he was happy-go-lucky; he loved to hunt and fish, and worked two days a week on the work-for-the-dole scheme, selling mud crabs on the side. Cameron had been a good friend of her own son, who two years earlier had been found dead in his cell in a mainland prison. An inquest took an hour to decide that he had committed suicide. There were no signs of foul play, but not knowing what had happened in the last hours of his life had left Erykah with an open wound. She showed me a photograph of her son diving into a water hole: he was young and strong, the water dappled in light.


Driving, we passed a group of young men walking uphill with their shoulders hunched. One carried a spear. “Who knows their abilities?” Erykah said.


She parked in the Doomadgees’ driveway. Theirs was one of the island’s newer houses, a white kit home. Large rocks had been dragged onto the block to landscape the garden. Frangipani branches stuck out of the sun-blasted earth, as did other cuttings: lychee, pepper, guava. A woman came briefly to the door, then for no apparent reason Erykah reversed out of the driveway. Something had been wordlessly arranged. The family were eating and wanted us to come back in twenty minutes.


Erykah told me that in the mission days her people found ways to communicate under the missionaries’ radar, with their eyes and hands. W. E. Roth had noticed something similar in the late 1890s: all across northern Queensland there were hand signs, subtle and complex, for different plants, animals, birds, snakes, fish, weapons, emotions, and ideas. There were signs for “sunset,” “forgetfulness,” “Silence: be quiet!” for “bad person,” and “run!”—which, he wrote, was “Both fists closed and circular movement with each: the feet hurrying onwards.”


To kill time, we kept driving. Erykah talked about growing up on the island. One of twelve children, she was always top of her class, but got caned a lot: she had a defiant streak. She was not allowed to walk down Mango Avenue, where whites lived, and she was supposed to salute any white person she passed. Whites got the choice cuts of meat, blacks got the bones, and only in adulthood did Erykah taste milk that hadn’t been watered down. In the 1950s a man could be arrested for waving to his wife or for laughing at the wrong moment. Anyone who complained was sent for solitary confinement to nearby Eclipse Island, and put on a diet of bread, water, and any fish they could catch with their bare hands. She remembered a man called Mr. Starlight, who spoke out against the missionaries. He was always being sent to Eclipse Island. Her father smuggled over Reader’s Digests for him. Mr. Starlight ended up in an insane asylum.


Outside the island’s store sat an elder from her tribal group, whom Erykah took me to meet. As we walked toward him I felt like I was wearing the heat on my body, or like it was wearing me. “Uncle,” she called to the old man, “will you sing your Whale Song?” Partly blind from glaucoma, he sang in his first language about standing on cliff tops watching a whale below. Erykah clapped as he sang. She said she wished she could give him something. I gave her $10; she slipped it to him.


Back at the Doomadgees’, two naked toddlers were playing under a tap. Elizabeth Doomadgee stood at the door. In her early forties, a striking, straight-backed woman with tight dark curls, she had an almost stately quality, a force to her that could make her seem haughty, or as if she were controlling—just—a steady rage. Elizabeth called to her younger sister Jane. She too was tall and slender and in shorts and T-shirt. They got into the mayor’s car and we drove to the Palm Island Council building. In the council boardroom, with its sepia prints of high-achieving Aborigines hung on the faded walls, Boe and Paula sat with the sisters and talked about the coroner’s inquest beginning in three weeks. Elizabeth was pokerfaced, skeptical, as if deciding whether to trust the lawyers. Jane was softer but silent.


Boe soon put the sisters at ease. He was attentive, convincing, and he also seemed to have a deep, instinctive sympathy. Boe’s family had fled Burma when he was four. On the tarmac of the Brisbane airport his father gave his five sons new, Irish Catholic names to help them fit in. After high school, Boe studied law while working to pay the fees and support himself. A star lawyer with his own practice by twenty-four, he was now thirty-nine and had six children, two of them adopted, with an Aboriginal magistrate. Palm Island’s tropical heat reminded him of Burma, the Doomadgees of his own family.


Boe asked the sisters whether there was a traditional name by which he should refer to their late brother.


“Moordinyi,” said Elizabeth.


It meant something like “the departed one.” In the Gulf of Carpentaria, people traditionally used Moordinyi instead of the deceased’s name for a period after death, to prevent the living calling back the dead. But Erykah transcribed Mulrunji and showed it to Elizabeth, who nodded coolly. (She had trouble spelling.) Perhaps people still used the correct term back in Doomadgee, the Aboriginal ex-mission town near the family’s ancestral lands in the Gulf region, from which they had taken their name. On this deracinated island, however, the family and witnesses continued to call the dead man Cameron. In the months following his death, only the lawyers and journalists used Mulrunji.


Elizabeth, at that moment, was less worried about tradition than she was about the inquest, in particular about witnesses being asked for the timing of events; no one on the island wore watches. She and Jane feared a trap. Boe told them not to worry. By representing the community, he would work to highlight not only the culpability of Hurley but the systemic flaws in Queensland policing. He had organized two highly regarded barristers to fight solely for the family.




Boe explained what would be happening. In two days, on February 8, the state coroner and the legal teams representing the police and the Doomadgees would fly to Palm Island for the pre-inquest arguments. Inquests were supposed to be held as close to the place of death as possible. Boe believed this one should be on Palm Island; the police lawyers would argue that the island was unsafe and the inquest should be held in Townsville. Wherever it was held, the coroner’s broad task was to decide what had caused Cameron’s death and to recommend measures that might prevent similar deaths from occurring. The coroner was not to make a finding of criminal guilt, but if he suspected any crime he was obliged to refer the case to the director of public prosecutions, who would determine whether Hurley should be charged.


Elizabeth told Boe she was concerned that her epileptic sister might throw a fit during the inquest and frighten the coroner away. Jane was worried that the tumor with which she’d been diagnosed would stop her learning her police statement by heart. They asked if Boe could help them borrow two hearing aids from the hospital for another sister and a niece. Both were partly deaf, probably due to untreated childhood ear infections, and would have difficulties hearing the evidence. Elizabeth herself was diabetic—like deafness, that was endemic in Aboriginal communities. She did not take medication, she told me, because God was protecting her. Fifteen minutes from the mainland, they all lived in a different country.


Starved of information, without any sign of legal progress, Elizabeth was prepared to believe that this serious figure in an Armani beanie and a swagger that was part arrogance, part idealism could be her savior come. A fervent Christian, she told me Boe’s arrival was proof that “God believes enough is enough.”


Elizabeth and Jane were anxious to see the cell-surveillance tape, and Boe told them he would play his copy—but first they wanted to assemble the rest of the family and get some tissues.


The store was closed, so Erykah and I drove around the corner to the hospital and she spoke to two young white nurses. They didn’t recognize Erykah. When she asked for the tissues, the nurses opened a few cupboards and said they couldn’t find any.


Back in the council boardroom, Jane said tissues would be no use anyway: she’d need a towel for her tears. She had naïve, unblinking eyes but held her face as if always braced for bad news. A dozen people had gathered. Cameron had been one of ten siblings, of whom, Jane explained, “Only three are dead.” Sitting in the boardroom were five of his sisters: the eldest, Carol, in her early fifties, along with Victoria, Elizabeth, Jane, and Valmae, the youngest at thirty-four. (A brother and sister had both died; another brother, Lloyd, lived back in Doomadgee; another sister, Claudelle, lived on the streets of Townsville.) Also present were Cameron’s brother-inlaw, his aunt, his niece Doreen with her young baby, and Tracy Twaddle. Tracy, Cameron’s partner of ten years, was a pretty woman with big finger-waved curls, bow lips, and a stunned, private air. Her cheeks were streaked with tears. The family looked like they’d come in from a storm. Their sleeplessness, their grief, their anger all submerged in polite and embarrassed silence.


The lights were turned off. The family sat in the dark, hunched close around a laptop. On the screen, the police cell was suffused with yellow-green light. In solemn quiet, the Doomadgees watched, hoping to find out how Cameron had died.















The Death






FRIDAY, NOVEMBER 19, 2004, was just another perfect, grinding day. By 9 A.M. it was around ninety degrees, and the humidity made it feel hotter. Senior Sergeant Chris Hurley had gone to Palm Island’s hospital after the three Nugent sisters had been bashed. The sister with a smashed jaw would have to be medevaced to Townsville. The sister with a black eye had asked for a lift home.


Hurley said no at first, he was too busy. But Gladys Nugent, a big, gentle-looking woman, was diabetic and needed an escort to collect “sugar” (insulin) from Roy Bramwell’s fridge. Roy was her partner, and it was he who’d just beaten Gladys and her sisters. So shortly after ten, Hurley and Lloyd Bengaroo, the island’s Aboriginal police liaison officer, took her to Bramwell’s place in Dee Street. Hurley told her to go in and come straight back out.


The senior sergeant waited in his van: the archetypal sheriff, clean-cut with deep-set dark eyes in a strong, handsome face, bristlingly physical and tall. Everyone had to look up to him as if to a man upon a horse. He had been promoted to senior sergeant two years before, at the age of thirty-four, and was now officer in charge of the island, with a staff of six white policemen and an Aboriginal liaison officer. He was “Boss Man,” and he’d risen through the ranks young and fast.


In front of him was the sea; the mountains reared up close behind. On Dee Street one house was salmon pink, the next dark blue, then light blue and lime green and yellow—a tropical mix, bright colors to disguise that every second house had broken windows, graffiti, small children playing around beer cans. This was now Hurley’s natural environment. He had become a creature of the Deep North, a specialist in places on the edges of so-called civilization, Aboriginal communities and frontier towns in Cape York and the Gulf of Carpentaria, places where the streets, the days shimmered as if you were in a kind of fever—all of it, with its edge of menace, like some brilliant hallucination.


The senior sergeant had done his training in Cairns and was transferred as a twenty-one-year-old constable to Thursday Island, the administrative center of the hundred or so windswept islands in the Torres Strait. Local custom is a mix of Aboriginal and Papuan cultures, and the people speak a creole known as Torres Strait Broken (Oli Gos = Holy Ghost; broke skin = sex; algita = crocodile; lugaut = beware; plisman = policeman). This was the high tropics, where the tarmac lifted in the heat and buildings looked decrepit the moment they were built. Only a few years earlier they’d taken down the pictures of Queen Elizabeth and the maps of the British Empire from classroom walls. English missionaries had come to Thursday Island in 1871 to teach the natives “shame,” the wearing of clothes, and to stamp out, more or less, the Darkness Time practices of head-hunting, idolatry, and sorcery. The missionaries’ arrival was still celebrated every year by locals and visiting Christians in the Coming of the Light ceremony. A dinghy rowed through the maze of coral reefs and mangrove swamps, carrying the gospel ashore; then there was a church service and drumming, feasting, and dancing.


Hurley liked dancing. He liked to party. He had a personality to match his outsize build. He’d swing girls over his shoulder, spinning them in the air. He’d stand in the center of a crowd, telling jokes: a cocky, exuberant larrikin. Thursday Island had made him a different man. He told an Aboriginal friend that he’d once found himself in a police boat searching for some islanders lost at sea, angry at having his plans for the night spoiled. It was then he realized he was a racist, and decided to change.




His conversion led him deeper into Aboriginal Australia. After two years on Thursday Island, he spent the next five working in Cape York: Aurukun, Kowanyama, Bamaga, Pormpuraaw, all Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander communities set up by missionaries to protect the natives from the violence of the frontier and to bring “light to the darkness” of their lives. The churches were mostly gone now. The places had become impoverished ghettos of alcoholism, petrol sniffing, brutality, arrests, and early deaths. Hurley had found a niche in these communities, and in the towns nearby: Cooktown, Laura, Burketown. They were in part the last outposts of racists, crocodile hunters, war veterans, hermits, and every kind of heathen, along with young teachers and nurses and cops who wanted to party, then get out. But Hurley had applied for these places. And the locals seemed to like him. He was kind, and wonderful with their children, always joking around or playing sports with them. He was popular with old people too, protecting the grandmothers from young men threatening them for their bank cards.


He’d done a stint back in civilization, in the tourist resort of Surfers Paradise, but he seemed to gravitate to the tough places. And Palm Island was tough. During his first year, stories had been published about the cruelty of the children who rode the island’s wild horses like bicycles rather than creatures of flesh and blood. They rode them in wet board shorts and the horses had sores the size of dinner plates. Animal welfare inspectors found that the kids drove the wild ponies out into the water until they were exhausted, until they drowned. A horse was found in a fishing net out at sea. Another was found brain dead with a bucket around its head. Children had put petrol in the bucket. A mare had been stabbed when in foal. Another had had battery acid poured over its open wounds.


Hurley had done two years on Palm Island and had signed up to do another year. He and the other officers kept sane by hiking or cycling the bush tracks, snorkeling the reefs, going fishing in the police boat, Jet Skiing—to the locals’ chagrin—on the dam, and spending sultry evenings drinking and playing pool. But now he sat waiting for Gladys Nugent, who had been bashed and was still half drunk and probably wouldn’t thank him for his trouble, but turn her eyes down like they all did.


Through the closed window of the van, he and Police Liaison Officer Lloyd Bengaroo could hear a young man yelling abuse from Roy Bramwell’s front yard. It was Gladys Nugent’s nephew Patrick, a thin boy whose mother was one of the women Bramwell had beaten. Drunk and high from sniffing petrol, Patrick was calling the police “fucking queenie cunts.”


“Are you hearing what he’s saying?” Bengaroo asked.


Hurley got out of the van.


Patrick’s grandmother asked the senior sergeant to arrest him. Hurley didn’t need any convincing; Bengaroo held open the back doors of the police van while Hurley put his prisoner into the cage.


At that moment Cameron Doomadgee walked past barefoot. He had with him his dog, Bulbush (“great hunter”), and a pack of orangey neighborhood mutts. “Bengaroo,” he said to the police aide, “you black like me. Why can’t you help the blacks?”


In his fifties, Lloyd Bengaroo was overweight and overburdened, with a craggy face and buried brown eyes. He’d grown up on Palm Island. For twenty years he’d been a community police officer, with the power to arrest, but his role had changed. He was now supposed to be working to bridge the gap between police and blackfellas, and he could no longer even touch offenders. This was meant to be for his own good, to spare him the loathing of his fellow islanders, but the community reckoned Bengaroo was a police “watchdog” or “errand boy”—and told him so constantly.


“Keep walking or you be arrested, too,” Bengaroo told Cameron.


Cameron Doomadgee, thirty-six, was lean and fit and proud of it. (He’d joke to his fishing companions that they had more fat than the turtles they hunted.) This morning he was on a full-scale bender of beer, cask wine, and “goom”—methylated spirits mixed with water. For all he’d drunk, he was “walking pretty good, staggering but not falling over,” according to Gerald Kidner, his drinking buddy, who was walking ahead of him.


When Cameron had gone on another thirty meters or so—Hurley was later to claim—he turned and swore at the senior sergeant. Lloyd Bengaroo said he didn’t hear it. Neither did Gladys Nugent, now back in the van with her insulin. Kidner reckoned Cameron was singing “Who Let the Dogs Out,” a one-hit wonder by the Baha Men that went:




Who let the dogs out (woof, woof, woof, woof).


Who let the dogs out (woof, woof, woof, woof).





But Chris Hurley, who had endured every insult in existence, heard something more offensive, and this time he decided not to let it go. Perhaps he was still riled by Patrick’s “fucking queenie cunts.” Perhaps he was thinking of the abuse flung at Lloyd Bengaroo, who’d recently asked for a transfer after being hospitalized for stress. Perhaps he was thinking of the three women who’d just been beaten by a drunk like this one. Or perhaps in the heat his uniform was sticking to his skin, and he could feel the sweat in the roots of his hair, and this whole island was vibrating, the whole place out of control, and it was up to him to still it.


“Who is he?” Hurley asked.


“Cameron Doomadgee,” Bengaroo answered.


The two men got back in the van and Hurley reversed toward Cameron. “What’s your problem with police?” The senior sergeant didn’t wait for an answer. He was out of the van instantly and arresting Cameron for creating a public nuisance. “I’m locking you up, Mr. Doomadgee.”


Lloyd Bengaroo opened the cage doors again. Nobie Clay, watching from a nearby balcony, said Cameron didn’t struggle but yelled, “You’re locking me up for nothing.” She reckoned she then saw Hurley pick up Cameron’s legs and spear him into the van. She heard the bass note of his head hitting the inside of the cage. It was 10:20 A.M.




With Cameron and Patrick locked in the back, Hurley and Bengaroo dropped Gladys at her sister’s house and by 10:26 had returned to the station. Outside, in Police Lane, Penny Sibley, a frail, gray-haired Aboriginal woman, was waiting to get money from Bengaroo. She was taking his goddaughter to Townsville to a land rights meeting. Hurley pulled into the garage, and when he opened the cage doors, she saw Cameron “going off, drunk, singing out, and everything.”


Then Cameron struck the senior sergeant on the jaw.


Hurley was stunned. No one on the island had ever hit him before. Penny Sibley said his face went “wild.” She and another witness, Tiny Bonner, said they saw Hurley punch Cameron in the ribs. In the garage, the two men struggled; Hurley tried to force his prisoner inside the station. As she watched them fighting, Penny Sibley began to cry. She said they entered the station, then the door slammed shut.


But Chris Hurley, Lloyd Bengaroo, and a young constable standing watching from within the garage all said that when Hurley and Doomadgee got to the station’s doorway, the two men tripped over a step and fell inside.


Standing by the door, Bengaroo did not move to see if his boss was hurt. The next day he told investigators: “I was thinking, um, if I see something I might get into trouble myself, or something.” Constable Kristopher Steadman, who had arrived on Palm Island fresh from the police academy the day before, also stood outside. He heard Hurley yelling angrily, but like Bengaroo said he waited until he thought it safe to enter.


Inside, Roy Bramwell was sitting by a filing cabinet, waiting to be questioned. The day before, he and the three Nugent sisters had started drinking at 11:30 A.M., and by midnight Roy had drunk forty cans of beer. He got up early next morning and had six more. Standing on the sisters’ veranda, Roy—“plenty drunk”—became angry because Gladys wouldn’t go home with him to take her insulin. They started to fight. In his statement, Roy later said:






During this argument I punched her sister, this is Anna Nugent, and hit her in the face. I punched her with one punch and this knocked her out. This was in the front yard. I punched Anna because she was being smart with her mouth.


I then punched the other sister, this is Andrea Nugent, and punched her once to the face and this knocked her out. I punched Andrea for the same reason. I dropped her on her knees and then the smart mouth did not get back up.


I then got into Gladys. I punched her once to the face and knocked her out. This was in the front yard as well. Gladys dropped to the ground and was on her knees. I started kicking into her and kicked her about three times. I kicked her in the face. I did this cause I was angry with her cause she didn’t want to come home with me.





After beating the three women, Roy went home alone and had a shower to cool off. Then he headed to the post office to pick up his welfare check. While he was waiting there, the Nugent sisters’ uncle Tiny Bonner found him, and another “tongue bang” (argument) began. That was where Sergeant Michael Leafe had found Roy, and that was how he came to be at the station.


But in his struggle to control Cameron, Hurley did not notice him.


The next day, and the next week, in separate police statements, Roy claimed:




Chris dragged him in and he laid him down here and started kicking him. All I could see [was] the elbow gone down, up and down, like that…“Do you want more Mister, Mister Doomadgee? Do you want more of these, eh, do you want more? You had enough?”





Roy’s view was partially obscured by the filing cabinet, but he said he could see Doomadgee’s legs sticking out; he could see Hurley’s fist coming down, then up, then down. “I see knuckle closed.” Each time the fist descended he heard Doomadgee groan. “Cameron, he started kicking around and [called] ‘leave me go’ like that now. ‘Leave me go—I’ll get up and walk.’”


Roy said Hurley did not stop: “Well, he tall, he tall, he tall, you know…just see the elbow going up and him down like that, you know, must have punched him pretty hard, didn’t he? Well, he was a sober man and he was a drunken man.”


Sergeant Michael Leafe, who’d just arrested Roy, was inside the station but he told investigators he didn’t see or hear anything. He claimed he left Hurley alone with Doomadgee for ten seconds while opening the door to one of the station’s two cells. When he returned the prisoner was limp. Leafe and Hurley each took Cameron Doomadgee by a wrist and dragged him on his back into the concrete cell. When they were done, Roy Bramwell said he saw Hurley rubbing his chin. The officer had a button undone.


“Did he give you a good one?” Roy asked.


“A helluva good one,” Hurley replied.


Then, Roy claimed, Hurley asked him if he had seen anything. Roy said no, and the senior sergeant told him to leave. Roy went back to the post office to get his welfare check, along the way warning some friends, “Chris Hurley getting into Cameron.” They told him, “Go tell someone, tell the Justice Group.” But Roy didn’t tell the Justice Group, a community program run by elders to settle conflicts. None of them did anything. They went on drinking.


Meanwhile Hurley and Leafe went to get Patrick Nugent out of the van. He was so drunk they had to carry him through the hot, cramped box of the police station and dump him beside Cameron in the cell. Then Hurley put a videotape in the cell surveillance monitor and tried to get on with his day.


 


ELEVEN WEEKS LATER, Cameron’s family sat in the council boardroom, enveloped in the bile-colored glow of this video, watching their brother die.




From high in the cell corner where the camera was installed, the two men sprawled on the concrete floor look like they’ve fallen from a great height. Cameron writhes. He calls out, “Help me!” The sound is distorted. It’s a desperate, agonized, animal cry. “Help me! Help!” he calls again. Patrick, half paralyzed with drink, feebly pats Cameron’s head and Cameron rolls closer to him, for warmth or for comfort. They lie there inert for a minute or so. A digital clock runs on the top left of the screen.


Hurley enters—rangy in his blue uniform, with sideburns, a hint of a pompadour, and a glare. From this angle he looks enormous. He stands staring down as if at two dolls. When he leaves, Cameron lurches away from Patrick. Then he’s still. They’re both still. The seconds on the digital clock flick over. Life is escaping. Ten minutes, twenty; neither man moves.


The Doomadgee family sat in silence, watching every frame.


After half an hour, Sergeant Leafe comes into the cell. He kicks Cameron. When there’s no response he kicks him again. At the inquest, this is called “an arousal technique.” Leafe leans over the prisoner. He touches his skin. Then he goes to get Hurley. The senior sergeant returns with a torch and flashes the light in Cameron’s eyes. He hunches over Cameron, puts his hand under Cameron’s nose, feeling for breath. He searches for a pulse, and for a moment seems to think he’s found one. But he hasn’t. It’s his own adrenaline surging. He rushes out; at 11:22 he calls an ambulance. When at last the ambulance officers arrive, they pull a defibrillator out of a medical bag and place it on Cameron’s chest. Chris Hurley stands against the cell wall, watching. It’s too late. The ambulance officer shakes his head. Hurley slumps down the wall with his head in his hands.


 


ELIZABETH DOOMADGEE walked out of the council building and sat on a bench under a mango tree. Nearby stood the wooden clock tower, each of its four faces broken. From here she could just see her daughter playing on the jetty. Kids rode up on wild horses and ran and backflipped into the water. Elizabeth stayed still. “The light shining on Hurley now,” she said finally, “but when the sun go down he a bad person.”


Everyone on Palm Island had a story about what happened on that day. And everyone had a story about Senior Sergeant Hurley. He denied that he had ever been violent toward Cameron Doomadgee. His supporters claimed he was “gutted” by the allegations made against him. They pointed to the extensive volunteer work he’d done with Aboriginal children and to his Aboriginal friends. He even had a skin name; he’d been adopted into an Indigenous family in Cape York, and in his midtwenties he had an Aboriginal girlfriend. Old colleagues said Hurley would restrain other officers if they lost their temper.


In the wake of Cameron’s death, the senior sergeant was emerging as a model cop. Before going to Palm Island, I read this glowing article about Hurley in Brisbane’s Sunday Mail of December 5, 2004:




A Cop Who Cared


At 200cm tall, Palm Island policeman Chris Hurley was always going to make an impression on the remote Aboriginal communities he made it his life’s work to serve. Before the death of Cameron Doomadgee on November 19 and continuing unrest on the island, that impression appears mostly good.


One of his postings as a constable aged just 21 was to Thursday Island, where the community quickly warmed to the gentle giant.


Worried about the high crime rate among children there, in 1989, he took it upon himself to establish a sporting club for young people, writing dozens of letters to organisations seeking donations to equip the club.


When a Brisbane shopping centre offered equipment if he would travel down to collect it, he arranged for three young islanders to join him and get their first taste of the big smoke.




A photograph taken on Thursday Island shows smiling children clambering over the young officer as he told The Sunday Mail his dream was for the “kids up here to be better known for their sporting ability than getting into trouble.”


A second photograph unveiled on Thursday Island this week is another reminder of his stay. It is part of a new photographic exhibition on Aboriginal reconciliation and is accompanied by his words: “Reconciliation is a two-way street; it’s going to take a lot of effort by all Australians. At the end of the day there are more similarities than differences between Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal Australians.”





In the exhibition photograph, a darkening sky is filled with rolling clouds. Hurley stands on a bridge and behind him a river runs wide but twists out of sight. He looks serious and strong. Wearing a broad-brimmed police hat, he leans over a map spread out on the hood of a police van. His eyes are narrowed as if seeing something just emerging on the horizon, as if it is coming toward him.


 


THE FIRST NIGHT I spent on Palm Island there was no moon. Cicadas tuned in and out of the heat. As it grew darker, I sat on the motel veranda drinking with the lawyers. Boe had the manner of someone lumbered with exchange students in a war zone. “What have you learnt?” he kept asking, wanting epiphanies. Virgin forest surrounded us. We heard unknown creatures begin their nocturnal rounds. In theory we were safe: the motel stood between the police station and the police barracks. But the barracks were surrounded by a high barbed-wire fence that was heavily padlocked. As I watched officers lock themselves in and out, it was unclear who needed protecting.


Erykah Kyle dropped by to speak to Boe. Like the Doomadgees, she had invested her hopes in him. The pair had an easy rapport, sharing ideals of activism that seemed to belong to an earlier age. As a young woman, Erykah had been inspired by the American black power movement, and in the early 1970s she’d spent time at the rebel Aboriginal Tent Embassy in Canberra, campaigning for land rights. Now she had written and printed a pamphlet that was to be distributed all over the island.


COMMUNITY NOTICE


THE STATE CORONER IS COMING TO PALM ISLAND FOR THE START OF THE INQUEST INTO THE DEATH OF OUR BELOVED BROTHER, PARTNER, FATHER, SON, COUSIN, NEPHEW, UNCLE AND MATE WHO DIED IN POLICE CUSTODY ON 19 NOVEMBER


PEOPLE WHO WANT TO ATTEND SHOULD BE ALLOWED TO LEAVE WORK FOR THIS


COMMUNITY SUPPORT IS NEEDED TO MAKE SURE THAT JUSTICE MIGHT COME THROUGH THIS TRAGEDY


From the veranda, I could see through the Cyclone-wire fence to a group of cops in a mess room playing pool with some nurses. Two officers drove in, parked their van, and heaved an old mattress over the windshield. Every night Palm Islanders threw rocks at the barracks: all its windows were covered by wooden screens.


I wondered what I was doing here, but my lawyer companions were on a mission and had no such doubts. We were two doors down from where Chris Hurley had lived. His white house was now a burned, vacant lot: a clue to what had happened in the riot a week after Cameron Doomadgee’s death. As the cops played pool on the other side of the fence, Boe raised his glass and proposed a toast to the revolution.
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